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Mission Statement
NAPWHA is the national peak organisation representing people living with HIV 
in Australia. Through leadership in advocacy, policy, education and prevention, 
NAPWHA strives to minimise the adverse personal and social effects of HIV. By 
championing the participation of HIV-positive people at all levels of the national 

response we aim to build a positive future for all people living with HIV.

Acknowledgement
NAPWHA pays respect to the traditional custodians of this land and acknowledges 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander elders, past and present, and those who have 

partnered with us in the response to HIV in Australia.

WARNING: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander readers are advised that this 
document contains images and names of deceased persons.
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pReSIDent – Scott Harlum

Fit for the future 
2020 has been a testing time for our national Association, 
as it has been for every aspect of society and the economy. 
Once it became clear that we faced another world-wide 
pandemic, with the potential to impact most heavily on the 
communities we serve, COVID-19 came to dominate our year.

From a governance perspective, the NAPWHA Board moved 
quickly to establish a COVID-19 Response Plan, which we 
activated on 12 March. The plan was comprehensive. It 
considered the potential impacts on people living with HIV in 
Australia and on NAPWHA’s capacity to serve those people. 
It	set	out	a	five-phase	escalating	response	that	included	
phase activation triggers. It was also a ‘living document’ 
that changed and responded as new information and advice 
became available.

The plan established alternative working arrangements for 
NAPWHA staff and for the management of NAPWHA’s 
finances.	It	laid	out	guidelines	for	face-to-face	meetings	
and travel, staff and Board succession, risk event responses, 
and a range of other essential actions to ensure NAPWHA’s 
business continuity.

While the NAPWHA Board did our bit to respond quickly and 
effectively, it was at the operational level that our Association 
shone. Immeasurable credit, and sincere thanks from myself 
and the Board, goes to the NAPWHA staff who rose to the 
personal and professional challenges presented by COVID-19.

From	the	adaptation	of	NAPWHA’s	Newtown	office	to	
comply with physical distancing and PPE requirements, to the 
transition to and from work-from-home arrangements, the 
NAPWHA	secretariat	has	kept	critical	information	flowing	to	
our community, maintained ongoing project and policy work, 
and	established	specific	arrangements	such	as	the	highly	
successful CHINWAG: Positive Connection, designed to 
maintain community connection and mental health wellness 
during	the	difficult	days	of	isolation.

In support of people living with HIV, NAPWHA has also:

• Established and maintained a highly effective
partnership with AFAO and ASHM. Through that
partnership we produced and distributed information
which	was	timely	and	based	on	the	best	scientific	and
specialist medical advice available;

• Produced regular COVID-19 updates through which we
communicated regularly with the community;

• Provided an ARV Relief Fund to support people living in
jurisdictions that still require copayments for their HIV
medications;

• Monitored ARV supply issues and concerns and
reassured the community regarding continuity of
medication supply; and

• Monitored and adjusted our COVID-19 Response Plan to
respond to emerging risks presented by COVID-19 for all
people living with HIV.

In March, in a communication to member Presidents and 
Chief Executives, I stated that “[as people living with HIV] we 
know what it is to confront the fear and anxiety presented 
by the emergence of a new virus with the potential to impact 
at a population level, and we are compelled to demonstrate 
community-based leadership in response to COVID-19”.

And all of us at NAPWHA and those in NAPWHA’s member 
organisations have demonstrated that leadership. Through 
the programs and services established nationally and in each 
jurisdiction, and in solidarity with other HIV organisations 
and partners, to date we have sailed admirably through the 
COVID-19 storm, and experienced limited impact from the 
pandemic on our communities.
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In a year dominated by COVID-19, other plans and timelines 
have	had	to	become	more	flexible:

• The review of the Rules of the Association, for example,
which is a long overdue piece of work for NAPWHA and
which was intended to be well underway by now, will
instead be prioritised in 2021.

• The development of a new Strategic Plan for NAPWHA
has been delayed but is well progressed. This critical
instrument has been developed from wide-ranging
consultations with NAPWHA members and others and
will guide NAPWHA’s priorities over coming years. It
will be published early in 2021;

• Our	governance	and	finance	and	risk	workplans	have
not been progressed to the extent which we would have
liked, but will also be prioritised in 2021; and

• Some	specific	key	projects,	such	as	the	review	of
the National Network of Women with HIV, have also
suffered delays.

2021 will be a year for refocussing on these and other efforts 
to	ensure	NAPWHA	is	‘fit	for	the	future’	for	2021	and	beyond.

Our response to COVID-19 aside, some highlights of the year 
include:

• NAPWHA’s membership has grown with the addition of
three associate members: Bobby Goldsmith Foundation
(BGF), Igat Hope (PNG) and Estrella Plus (East Timor)
have been welcomed to the NAPWHA family.

• Subject to a vote of the membership at this year’s AGM,
it is hoped two more members will join NAPWHA:
Positive Lives Tasmania as an Associate Member, and
TasCAHRD	as	an	Affiliate	Member.

• NAPWHA’s	financial	position	remains	strong	and	the
Association recorded another surplus for the year.
While funding is secure for the next two years at least,
NAPWHA	remains	highly	alert	to	future	financial	risks
and	the	need	to	remain	flexible	and	responsive.

I thank you all for your continued support and passion as we 
look forward to a less disruptive and more hopeful 2021.

Scott Harlum

President

NAPWHA members, Board and staff gather outside after the 2019 AGM



eXeCutIVe DIReCtoR – Aaron Cogle

unprecedented 
challenges met with 
creative responses

The SARS COV2 pandemic has dominated the HIV 
landscape in Australia this year and will likely do so for the 
foreseeable	future.	It	has	brought	significant	challenges	
for Australia’s HIV positive communities. For many people 
with HIV, it has also triggered frightening memories of the 
difficult	early	days	of	the	HIV	epidemic.

In the face of this challenge, NAPWHA has responded 
flexibly	and	effectively.	I	want	to	thank	the	Board	for	
quickly putting in place a COVID framework that allowed 
the organisation to transition seamlessly to working from 
home arrangements, and then when the time came for us to 
return	to	the	office,	to	do	so	safely.

Notwithstanding our impressive and rapid COVID response, 
the pandemic has taken its toll on all Australians. NAPWHA, 
its Board and staff have all held up well under the pressure 
and I am extraordinarily proud of their commitment to the 
organisation and to all people with HIV. Their innovative 
ideas helped us craft projects to support positive people 
during COVID and the staff team have dutifully and 
sensitively delivered them.

Staff update
This year saw several staff changes. We bid a fond farewell to 
Katy Roy, who left us to take up a role in policy development 
with AFAO. Katy was replaced by Adrian Ogier as the new 
NAPWHA Deputy Director. Adrian re-joined the NAPWHA 
team after a six-year break. Daniel Reeders also commenced 

working with NAPWHA as the new Learning Projects 
Officer.	We	warmly	welcome	them	both.

Adrian and Daniel join John Rule as the Senior Research 
Manager, Saysana Sirimanotham our Communication and 
Community	Engagement	Officer,	Charlie	Tredway	as	the	
Social	Media	and	Community	Engagement	Project	Officer	
and	Gladys	Jiminez	our	Administrative	Officer.	I	want	to	
acknowledge the exceptional hard work of everyone on 
the	team	in	this	difficult	year	and	offer	my	sincere	thanks.	
Thanks also go to our tireless volunteers Steven and Suzy.

policy agenda
This year was an important one for NAPWHA’s policy 
development agenda. NAPWHA published papers on 
Medicare Ineligibility and HIV Peer Support Standards. We 
also provided submissions to various government inquiries 
including the Royal Commission into Aged Care in Australia 
(in partnership with Positive Life NSW) and the proposed 
changes of the law of consent in relation to sexual assault 
in	both	Queensland	and	NSW.	Of	particular	significance	was	
NAPWHA’s audit into the use of mandatory testing laws 
across four States and one Territory which demonstrated 
significant	overuse	and	a	concerning	lack	of	transparency.

And	we	finally	secured	a	commitment	from	the	
Commonwealth Health Minister and Department of Health 
to solve the problem of ARV access for PLHIV who are 
resident Australians but do not have access to Medicare. 
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This represents a successful culmination of more than 
twenty years of advocacy. NAPWHA can be very proud of 
our long-term commitment to equitable treatment access 
for this highly vulnerable group.

Women’s Forum
One of the very last times NAPWHA was able to organise 
a face-to-face meeting before the lockdowns prevented 
interstate travel was for the 5th National Day of Women 
Living with HIV. On the 10 March, over twenty positive 
women from across Australia came together in Sydney. The 
forum provided an opportunity for women living with HIV 
to connect, share information, learn from each other, and 
provide feedback to NAPWHA. Discussion was focused on 
the question ‘How do we deliver for women living with HIV 
in 2020 and beyond?’

pAtSIn
NAPWHA’s other network, PATSIN, continued to meet 
throughout this period and in June they met to organise 
their support for the Black Lives Matter movement that 
was sweeping the globe. As a result of their hard work, a 
powerful call-to-action was issued to coincide with the 
protests that were happening around Australia.

Advocacy and member 
support
Over the year, NAPWHA continued to advocate on behalf 
of people living with HIV (PLHIV) with the Commonwealth. 
Through BBVSS we argued for the waiver of all co-payments 
for s100 drugs during the COVID emergency.

NAPWHA also responded to our member organisations’ 
requests for support on diverse issues such as mandatory 
testing in WA, adverse media coverage in SA and WA, 
cannabis law reform in Victoria and submissions proposing 
legal changes in Queensland. This year the PozAction Group 
became the ‘NAPWHA Operational Leadership Group’. 
The leadership continued to share intelligence and best 
practice	and	to	support	each	other	through	difficult	times.	
A	policy	officers’	network	was	also	created	this	year	at	the	
request of our members, with representation from across the 
membership, to collaborate on policy development.

Partnership across the community peak organisations 
continues to strengthen with fortnightly meetings and 
increased coordination before BBVSS meetings and other 
important projects, such as World AIDS Day.

NAPWHA held a face-to-face National Members Forum in 
November 2019 where we brought together HIV positive 
community representatives and the leaders of our member 
organisations, to ensure that the meaningful engagement of 
people living with HIV informs everything that we do. This 
was	followed	in	May	2020	by	the	first	of	our	online	National	
Member Forums. This marked the beginning of a process 
to develop online ways for the Body Positive to maintain its 
regular connection throughout the COVID-19 emergency. 
I was particularly glad to see the attendance rate was 
particularly high and remained so throughout the all-day 
online event. This is testament to the strong commitment 
to NAPWHA among our members and the broader PLHIV 
constituency.

This year has been a challenging one. In the face of that 
challenge, NAPWHA has performed admirably. I want to 
share with you some of the important highlights:

NAPWHA staff hang out on the streets of Newtown



CHInWAG: positive Connection

In April 2020, at the height of COVID-19 in Australia, 
Charlie Tredway surveyed the PLHIV community to assess 
the impact of COVID-19. 147 people living with HIV 
responded to the survey. This national subset provided 
valuable information on their most pressing needs.

The key things that stood out were the challenges of 
isolation and social distancing, and the need for meaningful 
interactions. 65% of participants selected ‘social 
connection’ and 41% chose ‘mental health support’ as two 
of their most pressing needs.

Chinwag: Positive Connection was an initiative designed to 
meet those needs for PLHIV across Australia. By bringing 
back the innovative Chinwag format and the original 
hostess, Vanessa Wagner, our goal was to create a virtual 
space for people living with HIV to come together, unwind 
and have a yarn.

HIV peer supporters from member organisations across 
Australia were a core part of the team. They not only 
provided support during the Chinwag but were able to go 
private with anyone who needed more intensive support or 
linkage to care.

Every week, Chinwag featured a different special guest from 
across the HIV, community and mental health sectors, who 
shared valuable insights on a range of topics. Discussions 
generated important talk about living through a second 
pandemic, monitoring increased alcohol and substance use, 
and reducing risk during in-person sex work and hook-ups.

Evaluation showed that the project was successful in 
building social connection among participants. 60% of 
people	attended	more	than	five	events,	83%	felt	more	
socially connected as result of participating, and 76% felt it 
helped their mental health and resilience.

This body of work is well represented at the 2020 
Australasian HIV/AIDS & Sexual Health Conference; with 
an oral abstract and a special lunchtime CHINWAG, where 
healthcare workers and researchers have the opportunity 
to question the importance and primacy of PLHIV Peer 
engagement.

HIV peer Support Standards

An epic undertaking, started three years ago by Chris 
Howard (QPP) and Bill Paterson (then at NAPWHA), was 
finally	completed	this	year	under	the	stewardship	of	Adrian	
Ogier and an editorial group including Dr Graham Brown 
from La Trobe University.

The Australian HIV Peer Support Standards is a 
comprehensive guide for best practice and has been warmly 
received by our membership and other HIV positive peers 
around Australia.

HIV peer supporters and special guests gather round Chinwag 

hostess, Vanessa Wagner
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There are four Standards in all: Everyone living with HIV 
should have access to peer support; People who provide 
peer support should be living with HIV and have access 
to training, supervision, and personal development; Peer 
support will include robust monitoring and evaluation 
processes; and Peer support should be tailored for key 
populations. An introduction explains what HIV peer 
support is exactly, and chronicles its roots back to 1980s 
Australia. There are expected outcomes for those giving and 
receiving the support as well as for their organisations and 
funders.

An addendum to the publication provides some excellent 
examples of how our membership is already providing a 
variety of peer-lead programs.

The publication is available for download online https://
napwha.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/NAPWHA-
Australian-Peer-Support-Standards.pdf and hardcopies are 
available	by	contacting	the	NAPWHA	office.

The publication is forming a basis from which HIV Peer 
Navigation Training can be developed.

peer navigation training

Daniel	Reeders,	our	new	Learning	Projects	Officer,	started	
developing a package of training modules for new and 
existing HIV Peer Navigators based on the HIV Peer Support 
Standards. 

Training will be aligned with the core units of the Cert III 
in Community Services, which cover essential skills for 
effective	workplace	performance	across	five	main	themes:	
self-management, client work, safety, the organisational 
context, and partnerships. The project draws on the deep 
knowledge and experience of this approach developed 
by NAPWHA members, Living Positive Victoria and 
Queensland Positive People, as well as all who participated 
in the development of the Standards. 

The enhanced professionalism of HIV peer workers will 
contribute to the strengthened recognition of the role and 
value of peer-based and community-led programs and 
services in the Australian response to HIV.

The Standards feature specially 

commissioned artwork by Carl Milton

https://napwha.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/NAPWHA-Australian-Peer-Support-Standards.pdf
https://napwha.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/NAPWHA-Australian-Peer-Support-Standards.pdf
https://napwha.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/NAPWHA-Australian-Peer-Support-Standards.pdf


HIV 101

Daniel is also working on the development of NAPWHA 
Learning, an exciting new platform for online and 
blended learning based on adult education principles and 
incorporating both the science and experience of HIV. 

HIV	101	will	be	the	first	set	of	learning	modules	for	three	
main groups: one for clinicians in low- and no-caseload 
clinics	preparing	to	make	their	first	HIV	diagnosis;	another	
for people newly diagnosed with HIV themselves; and a 
third for Aboriginal Health Practitioners. 

The impetus for this project is the knowledge that traumatic 
experiences of diagnosis are associated with delayed access 
to specialist care and commencement of treatment. 

A key message for clinicians is to encourage referral to HIV 
organisations and HIV peer support/navigation services, 
recognising that positive connection improves retention in 
care and quality of life, and reduces loneliness and social 
isolation.

Health literacy Framework project

This three-year NAPWHA initiative, funded by ViiV 
Healthcare and managed by Saysana Sirimanotham, 
continued activities into its second year with the 
appointment and professional development of Community 
Advocates – a network of HIV positive peers based in 
Canberra, Sydney, Melbourne, Perth, and Queensland. 

Women living with HIV (WLHIV) are the primary focus of 
this project – with a smaller pilot focusing on heterosexual 
men. The Community Advocates are integral to the 
Framework. The aims of the second year are to foster an 
improved conversation with women and heterosexual 
men living with HIV through the co-design of activities of 
engagement. This includes conducting peer consultations 
in small groups, however when COVID-19 hit, engagement 
shifted to one-to-one peer-interviewing via video call.

A strongly participatory and action research approach 
underlies the project, which itself is largely community led, 
with NAPWHA at the helm. The Community Advocates 
are provided training on HIV health literacy and its links 
with the HIV care continuum, communication and group 
facilitation skills, and a systems perspective on health 
literacy interventions.

Working in teams or individually, the Community Advocates 
reached out to other women and heterosexual men within 
their regions. Using participatory action research combined 
with community development approaches, they sought to 
build a picture of how health literacy accompanies their 
peers on their journeys. This enables them to consider 
the strengths and shortcomings of current HIV-related 
messaging and platforms. Further, it  suggests what 
initiatives could be developed to improve health literacy 
through NAPWHA’s future health promotion campaigns and 
activities. 

A key project outcome is that community-based peer 
organisations, beginning with NAPWHA, will enhance their 
own health literacy in order to have improved conversations 
with people from groups who may have been less visible, 
underrepresented or underserved in the HIV health literacy 
‘ecosystem’ up to the present. 

For more information visit

https://napwha.org.au/health-literacy-framework/

Pictured: Community Advocates (L-R) – Rita Broughton, 

Sarah Feagan, Emma Sheldon-Collins, Ron Woods (NAPWHA 

Training & Research consultant), Lara Kruizinga, (Above) 

Precious Mapfumo, Diane Lloyd, and Anth McCarthy
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Research @ nApWHA

This is the second year that John Rule has occupied a 
specific	staff	position	dedicated	to	focusing	on	research	
activities at NAPWHA. To a certain extent the research/
policy	nexus	is	arbitrary,	dependent	on	definitions	applied.	
In the case of work at NAPWHA in the 2020s research, 
policy and advocacy are linked in practice.

One concrete example of this is in HIV and ageing. Last 
year,	NAPWHA	released	a	significant	report	on	HIV	and	
Ageing. What followed was NAPWHA becoming engaged 
at	an	advisory	level	in	research	projects	specific	to	ageing	
with HIV. The organisation lodged policy submissions 
related to the area of HIV and ageing and has presented at 
a number of sector conferences and workshops advocating 
for	innovative	service	responses	to	the	needs	identified	by	
those living longer and ageing with HIV.

It has become clear through discussion with research 
partners, consultants and member organisations 

that NAPWHA could usefully continue to focus on 
developing our organisational research literacy. This also 
implies developing the research literacy of our member 
organisations and the individuals operating within them. In 
this respect, there is a plan.

A report on the NAPWHA Research and Representation 
Workshop in 2019 has been written up and focusses on 
different models of research engagement to achieve the 
Meaningful Involvement of People living with HIV in 
Research. The report explores the idea of developing HIV 
research literacies and further, based on the workshop 
outcomes describes some working principles, including the 
idea of a justice approach to research. The report will be 
released in the last quarter of 2020.

As with all research work, the quotable: ‘there is further 
research to be done’ is apposite.

Lived 
experience

We can 
say what 
is relevant

We can 
say what 

is not 
relevant

Bodies, 
lives, 

samples

What plHIV offer to research



the nApWHA treatment officer network

The	Treatment	Officer	Network	(TON)	work	together	to	
optimise the overall wellbeing of people living with HIV by 
providing a high standard of information and care on issues 
of health and treatments for HIV. The membership of TON 
extends throughout Australia and New Zealand and includes 
frontline workers who are called on to give HIV treatment 
advice to PLHIV. They are brought together by NAPWHA 
under this program to promote the sharing of information 
across jurisdictions. The network meets formally once per 
year and informal communication occurs throughout the 
rest of the year to continue the work of the network.

Video conference calls on 8 and 15 April were set up by 
the	NAPWHA	secretariat	and	TON	members	reflected	on	
disruptions to frontline services and noted the various 
responses to the impact of COVID-19. In a third, longer 
zoom video conference on 29 April, various presenters 
spoke on themed subjects according to the requests of the 
TON membership. These included:

• Referral pathways to PLHIV services and community
supports during lockdown

• Government funded income support during COVID-19

• Clinical supports (including telehealth) for PLHIV
during COVID-19

• Current	scientific	data	on	COVID-19	and	how	it	applies
to PLHIV

Presenters included Dr Elizabeth Crock, Vikas Parwani, Dr 
Darren Russell, and Associate Professor Edwina Wright. 
Video recordings of these sessions were placed on the 
NAPWHA website.

The TON meet via Zoom and are joined by presenters: Dr Elizabeth Crock, Vikas Parwani, Dr Darren Russell

and Associate Professor Edwina Wright.
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positive Workforce policy officers 

Another initiative this year has been the decision to hold 
regular meetings between the policy workers from our 
member organisations. These are a way for us to share 
policy advice and combine forces on issues ranging from 
combatting mandatory HIV testing laws to ending Medicare 
ineligibility. The group has endorsed various submissions 
including an inquiry into homelessness, another into the 
adequacy of retirement incomes and a third to the Royal 

Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety, all authored 
by Positive Life NSW. The group has also informed a review 
of the cost of HIV over a lifetime; investigated expanding 
HPV vaccine coverage to PLHIV; and endorsed ARV 
copayment reform in the States and Territories that still 
carry them.

Communication Working Group 

NAPWHA has begun planning for the regular gathering 
of communications staff from our member and partner 
organisations so we can better amplify messaging of 

importance and think strategically and unitedly in our 
communications.

Social Media 

NAPWHA’s social media presence continues to grow, with 
focus on cultivating a strong and distinctive visual language 
and voice. In the space of a year we have gone from just 
over 300 followers and a middling engagement to 1,157 
followers and a robust engagement with little need for paid 
post boosting.

Some highlights for this period have been the vox-pop video 
campaign for World AIDS Day with each video garnering an 
audience of between 1000 and 3000 people. PATSIN’s 

Michelle Tobin’s powerful ATSIHAW speech reached over 
2000 and garnered 115 reactions, shares and comments. 
NAPWHA’s communications work during COVID-19 was 
especially nimble and clear, effectively collaborating with 
our member organisations, AFAO and ASHM, to release 
timely and trusted information as the pandemic unfolded. 
Social media proved invaluable as a platform for gauging 
the temperature of the body positive and well as a way to 
announce services and initiatives as they were developed.



positive living

Positive Living has always evolved with the times but the 
dedication to journalism by and for people living with HIV 
remains unchanged. At the end of last year, NAPWHA 
undertook a large-scale overhaul of the look and feel 
of Positive Living moving towards a model of long form 
journalism written by PLHIV on the issues or topics of the 

day. To that end we established a new Media Reference 
Group featuring Heather Ellis, Scott Harlum, David 
Menadue, Adrian Ogier, Steve Spencer and Charlie Tredway 
to help steer the redesign and bring their considerable 
collective experience and insights into our written content. 

Website and systems

The NAPWHA website remains a cornerstone platform 
where NAPWHA’s secretariat work and communiques 
to our members are communicated. Practical and 
emerging COVID-19 information relevant to our 
communities was regularly updated as early as February 
2020 – alongside content added for our ongoing policy 
and advocacy work, treatment factsheets and 
updates, publications, and PLHIV representation 
on HIV research advisory committees including the 
Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee 
(PBAC).

We reported back on our National Members Forum 
2020 held virtually during COVID-19 restrictions 
for members whom were unable to attend, NAPWHA 
Board appointments, and ‘Every Journey Counts’ 
video campaign for World AIDS Day shot from our 
Annual General Meeting 2019.

On behalf of PATSIN we posted recommended 
COVID-19 health resources for Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander communities, a call-to-action regarding 
#BlackLivesMatter movements in Australia, and 
promoted Michelle Tobin’s powerful speech at the 
2019 Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander HIV Awareness 
Week launch.

On behalf of the the National Network of Women Living 
with HIV known as Femfatales, a call to action on 
increasing awareness and equitable access to HIV 
testing for women was released during events marking 
the National Day of Women Living with HIV 2020 
in March.

The long-trusted Positive Living brand received a new look for its relaunch as an online resource

https://napwha.org.au/covid-19/
https://napwha.org.au/covid-19/
https://napwha.org.au/what-we-do/policy/
https://napwha.org.au/what-we-do/policy/
https://napwha.org.au/treatment/
https://napwha.org.au/resources/
https://napwha.org.au/what-we-do/research/
https://napwha.org.au/patient-based-evidence-webinar/
https://napwha.org.au/national-members-forum-2020/
https://napwha.org.au/national-members-forum-2020/
https://napwha.org.au/napwha-welcomes-the-new-board/
https://napwha.org.au/napwha-welcomes-the-new-board/
https://napwha.org.au/wad-2019/
https://napwha.org.au/wad-2019/
https://napwha.org.au/agm19-report-back/
https://napwha.org.au/patsin-covid19/
https://napwha.org.au/patsin-covid19/
https://napwha.org.au/patsin-supports-the-blacklivesmatter-movement/
https://napwha.org.au/michelle-tobin-atsihaw-2019/
https://napwha.org.au/national-day-of-women-living-with-hiv-2020/
https://napwha.org.au/national-day-of-women-living-with-hiv-2020/
https://napwha.org.au/national-day-of-women-living-with-hiv-2020/
https://napwha.org.au/national-day-of-women-living-with-hiv-2020-events/


15Annual Report  |  2019 - 2020

For	the	benefit	of	peer	workers	from	Australian	State	and	
Territory peer-based organisations and AIDS Councils 
working on frontline services, Dr John Rule reported back 
selected insights from CROI 2020 and the Treatment 
Officer Network annual meeting keynote presentations 
were made available online.

In 2020, our e-news electronic direct mail communique – 
has been given a revamp under the banner of NAPWHA 
Digital – which aims to round up Positive Living 
articles, HIV news from around the world (formerly The 
Digest) and other relevant NAPWHA news

Living Positive Victoria CEO Richard Keane delivers an inspiring 
message on World AIDS Day in 2019

NAPWHA’s online communiques received a style boost this year

Strengthening our operations through cloud-
based systems

In 2019, we commenced a process of modernising and 
streamlining our secretariat work through the introduction 
of migrating to SaaS (software as a solution) cloud-based 
systems, including that of Microsoft Sharepoint, Zoom for 

video conferencing, and a client-relations management 
system, ChilliDB. This approach fortuitously set up an 
infrastructure that allowed staff to work from home, as the 
COVID-19 crisis commenced early-2020.

Aaron Cogle

Executive Director

https://napwha.org.au/croi-2020-report-back/
https://napwha.org.au/treatment-officer-network-2020/
https://napwha.org.au/treatment-officer-network-2020/
https://napwha.org.au/e-news/
https://napwha.org.au/e-news/
https://napwha.org.au/e-news/
https://napwha.org.au/e-news/


netWoRKS

national network of Women living with HIV 
(Femfatales)

Auspiced under NAPWHA, the National Network of Women 
Living with HIV (Femfatales) advocate for collaboration with 
anyone or any organisation involved in policy and advocacy 
work that might improve the quality of life for women living 
with HIV (WLHIV) in Australia.

Often our lives and experiences have been invisible, so as 
a minority we needed to highlight our voices, stories and 
experiences	and	raise	our	profile	nationally.	In	Australia	
there are 3,370 WLHIV, so we represent around 10% of the 
HIV positive population.

We strive to represent the diversity of all WLHIV. Our work 
is informed through peer navigation, research, and the lived 
experience; and includes many of the complex issues that 
women experience as a consequence of HIV-related stigma 
and discrimination.

national Day of Women 
living with HIV
In 2015 we introduced a National Day of Women Living 
with HIV, and every year on 9 March we celebrate and raise 
awareness of WLHIV in Australia. This year we celebrated in 
Sydney with a traditional high tea followed that evening by 
a dinner. And the following day, we gathered for a Women’s 
Forum.

As Chair of the network, I was invited by Positive Life NSW 
to be a keynote speaker at the high tea. Our call to action 
was for more equality in HIV testing, especially broadening 
the notions about who is at risk and the public health 
narratives that restrict our access to HIV testing on an equal 
basis to men.

In	Australia,	we	need	confidence	that	nationally	all	WLHIV	
are visible, matter, and are considered. We need to ensure 
WLHIV are not left behind and can access appropriate 
services and programs as required.

It is time to challenge the assumptions that are impacting 
on our long-term health, with all women who are sexually 
active being offered comprehensive and culturally 
appropriate sexual health screening, including HIV testing.

The dinner that evening included two excellent sessions. 
Jennifer Powers, a public health researcher from La Trobe 
University,	presented	the	women	specific	data	from	HIV	
Futures 9.

This was followed by a Q&A with Dr Virginia Furner from 
the Albion Centre. Dr Furner has extensive experience with 
and interest in the care of women with HIV and pregnancy 
and adolescent transition to adult care.

Women’s Forum
The Women’s Forum held on March 10 was a well-attended 
women’s event with diverse representation across the 
jurisdictions with approximately 25 women present.

Attendees gather after a full day of the Women’s Forum
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The day was packed with a diverse range of presentations 
including:

•	 Supporting the sexual and reproductive health needs 
of WLHIV in Australia through community based 
participatory research (Dr Allison Carter, Kirby Institute)

•	 Current responses in Australia: a review of WLHIV 
populations and services (Kirsty Machon, CEO of 
Positive Women Victoria)

•	 Overview of important work from the NNWLHIV- 
Femfatales (Katherine Leane, Chair of Femfatales)

The main session titled “How do we best engage and deliver 
for WLHIV in 2020 and beyond” was a facilitated discussion 
by Meredith Turnbull.

Numerous suggestions came out of the discussion, but 
the most supported activities that were agreed should be 
immediately actionable were:

•	 Focus on connecting all WLHIV e.g. national contact 
list, national database of services and support, 
improved partnership with TIM Women, Femfatales, 
etc.

•	 Strengthen National Day of Women Living with HIV.

•	 Review and reset Femfatales including name, scope, 
activities, processes, membership so that it is strong, 
inclusive and positioned for impact in 2020 and beyond. 
Identify what is/has worked (to continue), what needs 
to change (to learn from past and improve).

There	were	also	14	suggested	policy	areas	of	work	identified	
with	the	top	three	most	supported	areas	identified	as:

•	 Breast feeding

•	 Testing

•	 Stigma, discrimination, fear and misinformation

These areas are already raised in the current Femfatales 
workplan 2017-2021 and they will remain a priority focus 
in the next workplan and clearly linked to the upcoming 
NAPWHA Strategic Plan.

To see real change there needs to be dedicated national 
women	specific	funding.	There	needs	to	be	an	increase	in	
gathering	of	women	specific	research	and	data.	Nationally	
an increased commitment and willingness to collaborate 
and build stronger partnerships would see the above issues 
addressed and a greater connectedness across the diversity 
of WLHIV in Australia.

Media
In collaboration with NAPWHA, we did a media release 
on the National Day of WLWHIV based on our foundation 
principles to “Celebrate, Advocate, Inspire, Empower” 
women, and it was shared widely.

Femfatales made a powerful call to action for equitable 
and timely access to HIV testing for all women regardless 
of perceived risk; an end to avoidable rates of late 
HIV diagnosis; and greater public awareness of testing, 
treatments, and prevention.

Katherine Leane

Chair



positive Aboriginal and torres Strait Islander 
network (pAtSIn)

The past twelve months have been very challenging, with 
COVID restrictions impacting our brothers and sisters 
around the country. Aboriginal communities need to be 
proud of how they have responded to the pandemic, by 
shutting borders early we have managed to prevent the 
spread of COVID into remote communities.

Still, through all this we have been staying connected by 
phone, over Zoom, and via social media.

The following are some highlights of the year.

Black lives Matter
PATSIN came together during the outcry after George Floyd 
was killed at the hands of the Minneapolis Police. The event 
prompted Aboriginal people and supporters to rally together 
for the injustices that have affected our communities and 
to talk about the high number of deaths in custody in our 
country where no-one has ever been held accountable.

The	systemic	racism	and	the	racial	profiling	that	occurs	in	
our country needs to stop. We need an overhaul of current 
policies that includes culturally appropriate training, 
with	more	indigenous	officers	working	with	Aboriginal	
communities.

PATSIN produced the following Black Lives Matter 
Statement.
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taking the temperature of 
the Association — Sam and 
Wilo 
In this video series, Dr John Rule (NAPWHA Senior 
Research Manager) interviews members of the PLHIV 
community around Australia asking how they are managing 
and adapting to the 2020 pandemic.

To launch the online series, Sam Barsah and Wilo Muwadda 
shared stories about life and times, resilience, and 
community during COVID-19. You can watch the video here: 

https://youtu.be/oXi9BKd5YNo

CHInWAG: positive 
Connection
I was a guest on one of the Chinwags with Vanessa Wagner 
and it was great to be joined by other positive brothers and 
sisters.

let’s yarn about HIV
I have recently been employed by Positive Life NSW as one 
of	two	Aboriginal	Health	Program	Officers.	Together	we	are	
conducting a needs analysis of Aboriginal people living with 
HIV or at risk of HIV in New South Wales.

If you want to have a say about what is and what isn’t 
working for our mob in New South Wales, call me on 
(02) 9206 2177 or freecall 1800 245 677 or email me at 
contact@positivelife.org.au.

I also feel very honoured to have been nominated by 
Positive Life NSW CEO Jane Costello for the NSW 
Aboriginal Woman of the Year 

Future plans
•	 When restrictions and borders open, PATSIN hopes 

to come together for a two day face-to-face to discuss 
further developments of PATSIN moving forward.

•	 Conversations with NAPWHA, QPP, ACON, BlaQ and 
Positive Life NSW are ongoing regarding the next Health 
and Wellbeing Retreat to be held in NSW in 2021.

•	 Future collaborations with the ANA and other 
Stakeholders in how we as Peer Educators can best 
work together to support newly diagnosed Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander Peoples.

•	 Where to from here in the current funding climate and 
with restrictions easing from COVID-19

Thank you to NAPWHA and its members for your ongoing 
support of PATSIN.

Michelle Tobin 

Convenor

Committee: Michael Brown, Gavin Cannon, John ‘Ella’ 
Fitzgerald, Bev Greet, Jaimee Hobbs, Arone Meeks 
Founding Member: Wilo Muwadda

NAPWHA’s John Rule takes the temperature with Sam Barsah 

and Wilo Muwadda

Michelle Tobin & Bev Greet from PATSIN with NAPWHA’s 

Charlie Tredway at Parliament House, Canberra to mark 

Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander HIV Awareness Week

https://youtu.be/oXi9BKd5YNo
contact@positivelife.org.au
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Full MeMBeRS

lIVInG poSItIVe VICtoRIA 

The	2019/20	period	saw	the	emergence	of	significant	
challenges for the positive community in Victoria. 
Living Positive Victoria is proud to have harnessed these 
challenges and turned them into opportunities.

The new ways we now engage with our members and 
supporters will change how the organisation presents its 
programs and services into the future.

Going virtual
Most	significantly,	in	early	2020,	our	Positive	Speakers	
Bureau and Phoenix Workshops for the newly diagnosed 
moved into the virtual space. This step opened these 
programs to a broader, more diverse audience by reaching 
out digitally to new and traditionally hard to reach 
participants.

The same can be said for this year’s International AIDS 
Candlelight	Memorial,	which	moved	online	for	the	first	
time. This move saw a ten-fold increase in participation, 
with people coming together in the comfort and privacy 
of their own homes to remember those lost to AIDS and 
to honour the individuals who paved the way for today’s 
community leaders to have their voice.

World AIDS Day
Living Positive Victoria’s 2019 World AIDS Day community 
forum, in partnership with the Doherty Institute, the Burnet 
Institute and Thorne Harbour Health, focused on Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islanders’ HIV and sexual health.

It was launched by The Honourable Jenny Mikakos, 
Victorian Minister for Health. At this event, the Minister 
recognised Living Positive Victoria President, Adam Ehm’s 
call for Medicare eligibility for all people living with HIV. 
She vowed to take this challenge on board and consider 
what the Victorian Government can offer to overseas-born 
Victorians who are ineligible for Medicare support.

positive Community Awards
In October, the 2019 Positive Community Awards were an 
opportunity for Living Positive Victoria and our community 
to recognise the outstanding service, practice and support 
of individuals, groups, and organisations within our sector.

The Positive Health and Wellbeing Award for exceptional 
contribution to supporting, building and delivering 
excellence in health care, research and health promotion 
was awarded to the Australian Research Centre in Sex, 
Health and Society at La Trobe University, for their work 
in the implementation of Living Positive Victoria’s Peer 
Navigation Program.

The Peer Navigation Program is a clinical and community 
partnership which places peers at the centre of the care 
and	support	for	people	living	with	HIV.	It	is	one	of	the	first	
programs of its kind in Australia and is such a tremendous 
undertaking for our organisation that it has presented many 
challenges and unknowns throughout its delivery. As a 
result, we are learning more about our community and how 
health care services and systems can be reoriented to meet 
the health needs of people living with HIV.

A Special Acknowledgment Award went posthumously to 
the late Bruce McKenzie, long-term manager of LGBTIQ 
venue, DT’s Hotel, and committed friend to the HIV 
community.	Bruce	was	recognised	for	his	significant	impact	
on the lives of people living with HIV in Victoria through 
a sustained and extraordinary commitment to fundraising, 
awareness-raising	and	selfless	sharing	of	good-spirit.



HIV elder advocacy
During 2019, Living Positive Victoria received funding from 
the Gilead Together Grant Program to employ an HIV Elder 
Advocate to work with people living with HIV who are 50 
years and over.

Living Positive Victoria CEO, Richard Keane, says that “upon 
applying for this grant, we could not have foreseen how 
crucial this opportunity would be for older people living 
with HIV in the context of, what for many, is the second 
life-threatening pandemic we have experienced across our 
lifetimes.” 

Peer Navigator Sarah Feagan marches for Team LPV

CEO Richard Keane smiles for the camera
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noRtHeRn teRRItoRY

Greetings from the Northern Territory. The following are 
some highlights from the last year.

positive Women’s Retreat
Seven women attended the Care and Support (C&S) 
Annual Retreat in September 2019. The retreat was held in 
Batchelor at Rum Jungle Bungalows which offers a private 
and	confidential	space	for	women	to	feel	safe	and	share	
stories. Both NTAHC C&S coordinators attended the retreat 
to support those attending and assist with transport and 
logistics.

A pre-retreat survey indicated six areas of interest to 
explore. These were: empowerment, internalised stigma, 
living with HIV, HIV knowledge & women, acceptance, and 
relationships & dating.

Many stories were shared about stigma, both internal and 
external, and it was noted that many felt anger around this 
topic.

Only one woman understood and had heard about 
undetectable equals untransmittable (U=U) so there was 
concern about women not knowing this concept. This was 
passed onto staff at Clinic 34 for them to further explore in 
clinical consults.

There was also the issue of women not feeling comfortable 
to pick up their HIV medication at the hospital pharmacy. 
C&S now arrange pickups and delivery to clients if needed.

The retreat included activities such as yoga and massage 
and	group	cooking.	Women	specific	resources	were	also	
provided to assist health literacy and to prompt them to ask 
questions of their HIV specialist.

A guest speaker, Kath Leane from Femfatales at NAPWHA, 
also facilitated sessions and connected the attendees to 
broader positive women networks across the country.

The retreat is a valued chance to explore, on a deeper level, 
the	issues	that	exist	specifically	for	women,	and	provide	
community support to empower this group.

HIV positive Men, Gay Men 
and MSM social gathering
16 men attended this event in February 2020, four of them 
were HIV positive. Discussion revolved around navigating 
the aged care system.

With seven of those attending being of retirement age, 
most had thought about accessing some type of aged care 
support within the next few years.

The majority expressed no interest in moving into an aged 
care facility, however, they acknowledged that this would be 
highly dependent on an individual being in the right frame 
of mind or mental capacity to make this transition.

Virtual support
From March, we ceased all gatherings and focused on 
connecting with each other via email, Zoom, Messenger and 
Facebook. This included informing people that the Care and 
Support (C&S) team at NTAHC were continuing to connect 
with any PLHIV who needed support during the lockdown 
period.

HIV positive Women’s Brunch
After lockdown restrictions lifted to allow social gatherings 
in	Darwin,	the	first	event	held	happened	in	June.

Eight women, including some older clients no longer 
accessing C&S, came together for a social catch up and to 
begin planning for future events throughout the year.

The next event was planned for August, when Dr Manoji 
and Clinic 34 could also attend. This event will focus on 
treatment updates as well as a chance for the women to ask 
clinical questions.



plWHIV, Gay Men, MSM 
social inclusion day on the 
Mary River
In August 2020, 20 men came together on a boat trip on the 
Mary River.

The inclusion of gay men, MSM and PLHIV has worked 
well over the last 12 months. It is important that PLHIV are 
included in these types of gatherings as it gives PLHIV an 
opportunity to engage with others and forget about their 
diagnosis for a time.

We hope to plan another boat trip before the dry season has 
finished.	This	event	and	the	other	events	that	have	taken	
place have been funded by NTAHC who continues to be a 
solid supporter of all PLHIV living in the Northern Territory.

plHIV in Alice Springs
NTAHC Alice Springs offers a monthly Positive Support 
Group. This year, a total of nine Positive Support Groups 
were held. Due to COVID-19 restrictions, three additional 
ones could not occur.

This event helps people living with BBVs to improve their 
emotional and social wellbeing in a welcoming, enjoyable, 
and safe environment. Entry is free and lunch is provided. 
Each session offers the opportunity to make new friends, 
connect with others and discuss any issues.

Mark Halton
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poSItIVe lIFe neW SoutH WAleS

Throughout 2019/2020, we have continued to provide 
support and advocacy to and on behalf of people living with 
HIV. This has included policy advice; research; housing, 
treatments, systems navigation, vocational support and 
other peer support services; social inclusion; and health 
promotion.

Our digital communications strategy remains a primary tool 
to lift awareness on a range of emerging issues and priorities 
of importance to PLHIV, particularly in the time of COVID.

Some of achievements this year include:

•	 102 submissions to the Commonwealth and State 
Governments and presentations facilitating outcomes 
to further the health and community services needs 
of PLHIV in NSW. This includes feedback on research 
proposals, protocols and guidelines; discussion, options 
and position papers in a range of NSW Health and 
sector advisory groups and committees; presentations 
at various symposia, workshops, and conferences; 
briefings	to	members	of	the	NSW	HIV	response	
partnership including participation with the NSW HIV 
Prevention Revolution Project Steering Committee 
and Pillar Working Groups and the NSW HIV Strategy 
Implementation Committee and Expert Data Report 
Committee.

•	 Four community surveys that consulted PLHIV 
on issues including program and communication 
platform evaluations and the Strategic Plan 2016-2020 
Consultations.

•	 Six partnership events with HIV sector stakeholders.

•	 Continued progression of the Anal-Cancer, HPV-
Cancers and the TGD Advisory Groups representing the 
interests of all PLHIV across NSW.

Ageing and complex health 
conditions
In partnership with ViiV Healthcare, we maintain ageing 
support for PLHIV over 45 years of age throughout NSW, to 
navigate the complex aged care, NDIS, health and other HIV 
specialist services system.

We made a comprehensive response to the Australian 
Government’s Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality 
and Safety, based on direct input from PLHIV, our 
caregivers, partners, friends, and HIV service providers. 
Additionally, we advocated on behalf of PLHIV living with 
complex health conditions in addition to HIV, including 
anal, and other HPV-related cancers, HIV Associated 
Neurocognitive Disorder (HAND) and heart disease through 
support, information, and referrals. Our regional and rural 
consultations continue to identify emerging service and 
access issues for PLHIV state-wide.

Social determinants of 
health
In partnership with ViiV Healthcare, we commenced an 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander PLHIV health needs 
assessment of the indigenous community in NSW. This 
will include those living with HIV and those at risk of 
acquiring HIV. The project aims to co-design a culturally 
sensitive service model to achieve higher health and social 
determinants of health for indigenous people in NSW.

Housing
Our Housing Support program continues to support 
PLHIV across NSW to access, achieve and maintain stable 
accommodation. We achieve this by supporting PLHIV to 
navigate the range of referral pathways including Housing 
NSW and other service partner networks.

peer support
Our Peer Navigation Program, in partnership with ViiV 
Healthcare and operated by peers with lived experience and 
training, guides, refers, educates, and connects PLHIV to 
navigate health and social services systems. This program 
also encapsulates our Employment and Vocational Support, 
supporting PLHIV in NSW in their vocational choices 
including volunteer work.



partner notification
Our	Peer-Led	Partner	Notification	program,	in	partnership	
with NSW Sexual Health Information Link and the HIV 
Support Program, continues to support PLHIV and newly 
diagnosed peers along with our sexual and injecting 
partners.

Social inclusion and events
Our social support and inclusion groups continue to 
challenge HIV stigma and discrimination through various 
community events. We delivered education programs and 
social support through Peer2Peer, [+Connect], the Social 
Club, Peers Connect Online!, In the Know, the Positive 
Speakers Bureau (PSB) to clients and community members, 
and @[STARTx] in partnership with ACON.

We also held community events throughout the year, 
including the Australian National Day of Women Living 
with HIV in partnership with Femfatales, the Annual 
Sydney Candlelight Memorial in partnership with ACON, 
World AIDS Day, Yabun, Mardi Gras Fair Day and Parade, 
Newcastle Pride Picnic, the Paramatta Pride Picnic, and the 
Yaralla House social community BBQs.

Positive Life NSW supporters carry inspirational banners at the Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras Parade in 2020.
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poSItIVe lIFe SoutH AuStRAlIA

Innovative new planning and an openness was needed to 
help make Positive Life South Australia (PLSA) work for the 
benefit	of	our	clients	and	members	during	this	uncertain	
and	difficult	time.

This reporting period has required strength to work in 
partnership	with	HIV	specific	services,	community-based	
organisations, and general mainstream health services. This 
required the putting of past histories, personalities, and 
prejudices behind us. It was evident that the focus had to 
be on the diverse needs of the HIV positive community, 
including individuals who felt they did not belong to or 
identify with a vulnerable group or minority population.

positive lounge Gathering
For	the	first	six	months	of	this	reporting	year,	PLSA	and	
SAMESH continued with the monthly Positive Lounge 
Gathering (PLG). This event provides a peer support space, 
somewhere PLHIV can safely meet, chat, network and 
enjoy a nutritious meal. People can also access an amazing 
deep tissue body massage, thanks to the generosity of our 
volunteer, Hugh.

This community event was developed based on a prior 
forum and survey where the opportunity for peer and 
emotional support rated in the top four recommendations. 
With the closure of PLSA Community Centre in 2016—
and soon after, the respite facility at Cheltenham House 

in 2018—there was a huge gap in community and peer 
support. This need remained largely unmet but over time, 
positive communication between SAMESH and PLSA has 
gradually improved.

Community pantry
Out of necessity, the Positive Lounge Gatherings were 
placed on COVID-19 hold. But after much consultation 
and with continual requests for basics assistance, SAMESH 
with PLSA initiated a home delivery food service. The 
Community Pantry started supplying and delivering a wide 
range of vital and needed food items.

This	current	financial	year	we	have	developed	a	good	
relationship with a third SAMESH Team Manager 
who appreciates the value of working in honest open 
partnership.

It was evident that if the needs of positive people were to 
be taken seriously and considered, then the only successful 
path was to all work collaboratively and build a rapport 
across the two organisations. What did transpire was a 
strong commitment and passion across all HIV services 
to ensure that PLHIV were not invisible or left behind or 
forced	to	fit	into	mainstream	models	of	care.

In total, 30 PLHIV community members utilised this 
service. This “on the run” home delivery service not only 

PLSA President Kath Leane and friends share a delicious meal at the Positive Lounge Gathering



provided essential food items but enabled safe social 
distancing contact on a weekly basis.

The	opportunity	to	briefly	speak	with	a	worker	and	be	
updated with HIV sector information was valued by nearly 
all clients receiving this service. Promoted by websites, 
Facebook and peer networks, the service was invaluable 
in opening an opportunity to connect with workers. This 
successful service has supported people in the community 
who were impacted by the lockdown restrictions, loss 
of employment or income and the capacity to travel for 
shopping.

telehealth
Online or telephone appointments have supported PLHIV 
to maintain important medical care. This service has been 
instrumental in enabling ongoing care without risk and has 
meant that PLHIV can easily access prescriptions with them 
being sent direct to their chemist of choice.

Candlelight memorial
The 2020 Candlelight Memorial Event was held in 
partnership with PLSA and SAMESH. This was a virtual 
ceremony streamed live on Sunday 17 May.

Community members pre-recorded a short video sharing 
what the memorial meant to them and why it was still 
significant	in	2020.	For	many	it	was	about	making	the	time	
to acknowledge the past and remembering the leaders and 
activists who fought for the rights we have today. A virtual 
candle	burned	for	one	hour	while	the	community	reflected	
and remembered those they had loved and lost.

MAC support
An initial community grant from MAC cosmetics has meant 
PLSA has continued for three years to pay the cost of our 
members’ ambulance membership or yearly renewals. The 
referrals come from the IDU at the Royal Adelaide Hospital, 
Mosaic and Peace projects at Relationships Australia and 
the Royal District Nursing Society. Individual enquiries also 
come via our Facebook page or website. This service is very 
popular and has also resulted in 23 new PLSA members over 
the	last	financial	year.

our work continues
The advocacy work we continue to promote is ensuring 
that PLHIV still have a voice at the table and that it does 
represent the diversity of PLHIV need. With no funding 
and limited capacity, we still offered individual peer 
support which involved referrals and linking people to the 
appropriate services they were seeking.

With a sound knowledge and years of experience we 
continue to direct PLHIV to the most appropriate service 
and have offered safe phone peer support during the last 12 
months. These enquiries have included seeking information 
about access to HIV treatments, questions about Centrelink, 
where to access counselling, looking for domestic violence 
services, how to access the Community Pantry and 
questions from international students about HIV testing, 
results and support.

Positive Life South Australia would like to acknowledge and 
thank all the dedicated workers, volunteers and peers who 
enable us to continue to do the best we can, with kindness, 
to ensure that all PLHIV have the right to “Opportunity, 
Equity, Acceptance” when addressing their HIV and health 
care needs.
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poSItIVe lIVInG ACt

Like	many	in	the	sector,	COVID-19	has	had	a	significant	
impact on the operations and service delivery approaches 
for PLHIV by HIV Positive Peer Support ACT.

Mental health during 
lockdown
Peer support services were already busy before the 
emergence of COVID. However, the onset of social 
distancing measures and the widespread shutdown of 
workplaces and recreation activities in March 2020 resulted 
in	a	significant	increase	in	client	contact.

Many of our clients already experience the impacts of social 
isolation in their day-to-day life, and this was exacerbated. 
We were quick to implement a number of initiatives using 
our peer workers to strengthen engagement throughout 
the period of the COVID-19 shutdown. We shifted from 
in-person contact to phone, email and Zoom; and helped 
clients access Telehealth and remote counselling where 
needed.

Many existing health services were shut down, restricted, or 
changed their mode of operating in response to COVID-19, 
which created additional barriers for some of our more 
vulnerable clients. Through partnerships, we have been able 
to bridge the digital divide for clients by providing tablets 
and internet to ensure our clients remain connected.

We recorded an increase in issues related to mental health, 
housing, income and loss of work, drug and alcohol 
problems, and relationships. All of these appeared to be 
related to the impact of COVID-19. A number of clients with 
existing mental illness experienced a decline or an episode 
requiring intervention

peer support programs
Our new peer support program for positive women 
commenced in February 2020, but was suspended due to 
COVID-19. On top of this, our Women’s Peer Worker has not 
been able to continue in the role, further delaying progress 
in this important area.

Genesis is our education and peer support program for men 
newly diagnosed with HIV. For around three years, we have 
been delivering this in one-to-one sessions rather than in a 
group workshop, due to Canberra’s population. This year we 
modified	the	program	again	in	order	to	deliver	it	on	a	Zoom	
platform. We have supported four men adjust to living with 
HIV in a healthy and positive mindset in 2019/20.

Peer Support Network (PSN) is our monthly dinner and 
social gathering. Throughout 2019 and early 2020 this event 
remained popular and well attended, with the generous 
support of long term volunteers. Unfortunately, physical 
distancing measures have prevented PSN dinners since 
March, but we watch and wait to decide when it will be 
safe to return. We have encouraged positive clients to join 
in online social gatherings such as Chinwag hosted by 
NAPWHA.



Virtual connections
In May, we held the International Candlelight Memorial as a 
Zoom and social media event.

We also heard a video conversation between Darryl 
O’Donnell	of	AFAO	and	Nick	Lucchinelli	reflecting	on	
some of the lessons from the HIV/AIDS epidemic that we 
can utilise in the era of COVID-19. The key message was 
that it is not just medicine that defeats an epidemic, it’s a 
community pulling together and resisting the urge toward 
stigma and criminalisation.

name change
During this period, the AIDS Action Council (which hosts 
HIV Positive Peer Support ACT) changed its name to 
Meridian. One of the reasons behind the change was to 
make it easier for PLHIV who did not have any connection 
with the old name to access our services. We have already 
seen some good engagement results with positive women 
and PLHIV who were born overseas.

2020 has been a challenging year, but one where once again 
we have seen the importance of peer driven support work 
for PLHIV.
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poSItIVe oRGAnISAtIon WeSteRn AuStRAlIA 

(poWA)

I started my role as President of POWA in December 
2019 and had high optimism for a stellar year for the 
POWA Board, its renewal, and high levels of community 
engagement. However, the long shadow of COVID-19 has 
had a big impact on POWA activity and our communities in 
2020.

Dispensing differences
The months of March, April and May saw POWA Board 
meetings	move	from	the	office	and	into	Zoom	video	
conferencing. These meetings became a source of 
information exchange and support during these months of 
high speculation and uncertainty. Among other things, we 
discussed the differences in medication dispensing plans 
between Royal Perth Hospital and Fiona Stanley Hospital, 
with the latter appearing more organised and consistent 
with free, universal health care.

Candlelight memorial
Friends of the WA AIDS Memorial conducted a COVID-19 
safe ceremony during the International AIDS Candlelight 
Memorial on Sunday 17 May. Although POWA had 
organised and tested the Zoom technology prior to the 
event, on the day we experienced technological failure. 
This was upsetting and disappointing for organisers and 
community participants.

Support partners
This year we refreshed our collaboration and engagement 
with HIV sector partners: the WA Health Consumer Council 
and the WA AIDS Council (WAAC). Thank you to the former 
for	providing	an	office	space	for	our	meetings	and	to	the	
latter for a most productive joint planning day in January.

Memorandums of Understanding for both organisations are 
in negotiation and completion is expected before the end 
of the year. Importantly, the discussions speak to mutual 
organisational respect, support and aligned goals for future 
collaboration. Over time, this will deliver better outcomes 
for all our PLHIV communities.

We would also like to acknowledge and welcome Lisa Dobrin 
in her new role as the CEO of WAAC.

On a national level, we welcomed NAPWHA’s Australian 
HIV Peer Support Standards. This important foundational 
piece of work will assist in driving system improvements for 
people living with HIV in WA.

Another important partner is Positive Life NSW, who have 
been a bedrock of ongoing organisational support for POWA 
since its incorporation. This year also saw engagement with 
the Australasian Society for HIV Medicine (ASHM) and their 
inclusion of the POWA organisation fact sheet.

NAPWHA ED Aaron Cogle (Back left) with POWA members 

Diane Lloyd, Ryan Oliver and Cipri Martinez.



ups and downs
It seemed like a promising year for reducing HIV stigma and 
criminalisation, having the WA Health Department develop 
the new Integrated Case Management Program 2020. 
https://www.healthywa.wa.gov.au/-/media/Corp/
Documents/Health-for/HIV/ICMP-Factsheet.pdf

However, efforts by NAPWHA, AFAO, POWA, WAAC and 
friends to alter the trajectory of WA’s mandatory testing 
laws (also known as HIV spitting laws) were on this occasion 
unsuccessful. Ultimately one more casualty of COVID-19.

Another disappointment that required a written response to 
the West Australian’s Chief of Staff was an article entitled 
“Five	years	jail	for	‘selfish’	HIV	lover”.

POWA’s aim is to modernise the view of HIV, to stand united 
and advocate against HIV stigma and discrimination. One 
of the many reasons why POWA remains relevant and must 
still exist.

Thank you to the POWA Board and its members for your 
effort and solid support this year.

Cipriano Martinez

President   

https://www.healthywa.wa.gov.au/-/media/Corp/Documents/Health-for/HIV/ICMP-Factsheet.pdf
https://www.healthywa.wa.gov.au/-/media/Corp/Documents/Health-for/HIV/ICMP-Factsheet.pdf
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QueenSlAnD poSItIVe people

In 2019, Queensland Positive People (QPP) marked our 30th 
anniversary. It was an amazing time of celebrating who we 
are and remembering where we came from. It was a time to 
reflect	and	stand	proudly	on	the	shoulders	of	the	PLHIV	
and allies who came before us.

Given the changing face of HIV—the advent of U=U 
and	PrEP	and	falling	notification	rates—it	was	also	the	
opportune time to stop and question ourselves. Who are 
we as a collective? What are our values and what does QPP 
stand for? Why are we here? How relevant are we to the 
changing face of the PLHIV in Queensland and their needs? 
What do we need to achieve together moving forward?

Despite the hurdles we have faced in 2019/2020, we have 
achieved a lot, and I would like to highlight some of our 
achievements.

Rapid testing
RAPID peer testers delivered over 7,700 point of care 
HIV and STI testing occasions of service, which is the 
largest number yet. This represents continued growth and 
unprecedented demand on the RAPID program.

QPP and Brisbane Sexual Health Service, Metro North HHS 
have partnered to provide a nurse-led clinic for on-site 
STI treatment, vaccination, and contact tracing for RAPID 
clients.

peer and financial support
The LIFE+ program has supported over 400 PLHIV to self-
manage their health and well-being, deal with stigma, build 
resilience and navigate health and community systems and 
services including housing, transition from corrections, legal 
rights and responsibilities, and mental health and addiction 
services. This represents an increase in demand of over 10% 
from the previous year.

QPP has provided nearly $60,000 in emergency relief 
funding	to	over	160	PLHIV	who	were	experiencing	financial	
hardship. This fund has assisted people access HIV services 
and treatment, housing, food, transport, employment, and 
training.Queensland Positive People celebrates its 30th Birthday



Research and advocacy
QPP continues to be an active partner in clinical, public 
health and social research projects and pilots. Much of 
this research utilises community-based participatory 
and translational approaches ensuring that the positive 
voice is central to the co-creation of knowledge. We 
highly value the relationships we are building, which have 
resulted in conference abstracts, presentations, and journal 
publications.

QPP has developed and begun implementing a 
communications strategy. QPP’s PLHIV membership 
increased by 17.5%. Our organic total reach on Facebook 
increased by 12% and website engagement and new users 
increased by between 6% and 7%.

We have contributed to several national and state 
commissions, consultations, and submissions to ensure the 
HIV positive voice is represented in human rights, aged care 
and consent law; and policy making.

First nations Retreat
QPP in collaboration with the Positive Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Network (PATSIN) developed a 
culturally appropriate, three-day residential workshop for 
First Nations PLHIV, funded by ViiV Healthcare. Following 
Meaningful Involvement of PLHIV/AIDS (MIPA) principles, 
a steering group comprising First Nations PLHIV guided 
the project and assisted in the development of workshop 
content and activities.

The retreat took place in Yungaburra, North Queensland 
over three days in late August/early September 2019. 14 
First Nations PLHIV attended the retreat, with the majority 
from Far North Queensland, the Torres Strait Islands, 
Brisbane, and a small number from Sydney, Adelaide and 
Melbourne.

The post-retreat report demonstrated that the retreat was 
of	benefit	to	everyone	who	attended.	The	qualitative	data	
gathered demonstrated the healing that took place and the 
connections that were formed between the attendees. The 
increases in quality of life scores supported this assertion, 
along with the powerful participant testimonies illustrated 
within voice recordings taken throughout the retreat.

looking ahead to 2020/2021
•	 QPP was successful in obtaining COVID-related grants 

from the Queensland Government. The grants will 
enable us to make some important upgrades to our 
building premises and IT system, including the website. 
So, we can continue to meet the needs of community 
during the COVID-19 response and recovery phases.

•	 We will continue to strengthen our foundations through 
developing our organisational culture and community 
connections.

•	 QPP has engaged with Reconciliation Australia and has 
begun the journey to develop a Reconciliation Plan.

•	 Over the next 12 months, we will also be seeking 
to obtain a number of accreditations to align with 
requirements of Queensland Health funding agreements 
and to provide us with opportunities to diversify our 
funding and service provision through primary health, 
My Aged Care and the NDIS.

Melissa Warner

Chief Executive Officer
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tASMAnIA

Positive Lives Tasmania has now been running for two years 
and, despite COVID-19, we have continued to grow our 
membership	and	operational	reach.	During	this	difficult	
time, it has become even more apparent that isolation, 
stigma, and mental health are key issues affecting PLHIV in 
the state.

One of our members is participating in the Positive Self-
Management Course being run by Living Positive Victoria 
and Thorne Harbour Health. Another member of the Board 
has also completed the Positive Leadership Development 
course also run by Living Positive Victoria.

We have been invited to submit for funding from several 
bodies, both state and federal, and look forward to 
setting-up a Tasmanian peer navigation service. Peer 
navigation and a state-wide connectivity will be our key 
drivers in developing localised support networks and web 
consultations for members in the outlying regions of the 
state.

Looking forward, engaging the Board in management 
training will assist us to provide good governance and an 
ongoing commitment to improving the lives of all PLHIV in 
Tasmania.

Iain McPhee



CoVID-19 challenges
2020 presented TASCAHRD’s services for PLHIV with some 
unique opportunities. As we headed into lockdown, phone 
calls were made, giving us the chance to re-connect with 
many old contacts. People were asked how frequently they 
wanted to be telephoned. A large proportion were happy for 
regular phone calls and a smaller number requested more 
frequent calls. Online social meetings using Zoom were also 
organised to ensure people could interact socially. This 
extra support was much appreciated.

Another initiative was to mail out packs which included 
a tea bag, a coffee bag and chocolate. It is always nice to 
receive a letter, knowing that you are being remembered.

Food hampers were also made up and delivered. For some, 
one hamper was enough to help someone over a hurdle. 
But others required several deliveries. We distributed 38 
hampers in all.

Social housing
Some years ago, four houses were set aside by the 
Department	of	Housing	specifically	for	people	living	with	
HIV. They are managed through the Nigel Mallet Housing 
Program—named	in	memory	of	Nigel,	one	of	the	first	
Tasmanians to succumb to a HIV-related illness.

Although much has changed from the early days, quality 
housing is still vital to promote wellbeing and good quality 
of life.

Financial Support
Financial support is available through the Andrew Shaw 
Foundation, with part payments provided for bills such as 
electricity or car registration. Demand has been higher than 
normal because of stresses caused by COVID-19.

The NAPWHA ARV co-payment relief fund was much 
appreciated and was readily taken up. This fund was to 
assist with purchasing HIV medication as part of COVID-19 
support measures

Communication and support
While most people living with HIV in Tasmania are located 
in and around Hobart, some live in the north and north-
west of the state, while others live quite remotely. Regular 
contact is important for all our community so, through 
ViiV Healthcare, a grant was made available for TasCAHRD 
to set up a pod cast studio. Programs are currently being 
developed	specifically	to	support	the	Tasmanian	Positive	
Living Project.

Grahame Foster
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ASSoCIAte MeMBeRS

Bobby Goldsmith Foundation

The past 12 months have been a big year for Bobby 
Goldsmith Foundation, and more importantly, for the 
communities we serve. We have been doing everything we 
can to help people living with HIV to thrive.

expansion of work
Extending our programs and services to areas of geographic 
need was a major focus for us this year. Alongside our well-
established Case Work and Case Management activities 
in NSW and South Australia, our Health and Wellbeing 
programs have gone from strength to strength adapting 
to client feedback. We have doubled the number of our 
Financial Counsellors, and through the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme (NDIS) we have expanded our in-home 
community support to the greater Sydney and Northern 
Rivers regions of NSW.

Rebranding to respond to the 
changing face of HIV
After an extensive consultation process with our 
stakeholders and staff, we launched our new rebrand 
in August 2019. We felt it was time to rebrand as we 
recognised that the face of HIV is changing. Not only are 
more and more people from diverse backgrounds walking 
through our doors, the people we support are now able to 
lead long, healthy, and colourful lives. So, we felt it was time 
our	look	reflected	that.	From	a	new	colour	palette	as	diverse	
as our community, to photography that captures their 
humanity – this is the new face of BGF.

Responding and adapting to 
CoVID-19
As everyone across the HIV community sector in Australia 
– and across the world – has been confronted with the new 
challenges that have arisen due to COVID-19, our focus has 
remained where it has always been: supporting people living 
with HIV to maintain their physical and mental well-being 
and to cope with the disruption and uncertainty caused by 
this pandemic.

During the most pressing days of the pandemic, we were 
able to continue to provide all of our essential client-
facing community services and support to help our clients 
maintain their wellbeing and manage their social isolation at 
this time.

As our organisation adapted to a new way of working in 
March 2020, we recognised that a sense of community 
for our clients is more important than ever right now. To 
help our clients stay connected, we adapted our services 
and programs to a new way of working. Our Health & 
Wellbeing programs moved online, with a real focus on 
social connectedness. Our Community Support Workers 
continued to support our clients in-person, providing daily 
essential community services, while ensuring the health 
and protection of everyone involved. And our Case Workers 
and Case Managers remained focussed on supporting our 
clients to get through this tough time.

It has been a big year for BGF, and we are very proud of our 
dedicated staff and volunteers who are going above and 
beyond to ensure that our clients are thriving. 

The BGF stand at 2020 Mardi Gras Fair 

Day

Artistic expression contributes to good 

quality of life

Supporting our clients to get through this 

tough time



BoDY poSItIVe neW ZeAlAnD

Sperm positive
A highlight of World AIDS Day 2019 was the launch of 
Sperm Positive,	the	world’s	first	HIV-positive	sperm	
bank. 94 countries shared our media release with a 1.8 
billion reach. This created a global conversation about U=U 
and serodiscordant couples being able to have children with 
no risk of transmission.

Soon after, we had 27 HIV-positive donors and 30 HIV-
negative recipients sign up. We are excited to hear that 
some of our participants have recently conceived through 
the program. In addition, the fertility clinics we are working 
with have updated their policies and procedures to support 
PLHIV through assisted conception; and one of the clinics is 
now	a	finalist	at	the	Rainbow	Tick	Awards.

Sing!
Also on World AIDS Day, we launched SING!, a popup 
community choir that brings people together in song. 
We repeated these popup choirs across the city at Proud 
Centres—a council initiative to bring pride to suburban 
community centres. And we used these events to promote 
the U=U message.

Virtual support
Isolation, mental health, and ongoing engagement in care 
have become priorities during COVID-19.

We were fortunate to be able to hold our Annual Men’s 
Retreat in February this year, with participants coming from 
across the country. But soon after, we moved to supporting 
people virtually as the lockdowns came and went.

Our candlelight vigil in May was also an online event.

new programs
Our new “Can’t Pass it On” campaign has received good 
feedback and, with a boost in funding, will be pushed 
further at World AIDS Day.

We are also collaborating on a Stigma Index, with results 
due	out	for	World	AIDS	Day.	This	is	our	first	time	engaging	
PLHIV peers as research assistants to conduct community-
based	research.	The	findings	will	help	shape	future	stigma	
interventions.

Rapid tests and prep
Rapid HIV testing continues and now includes full sexual 
health testing by peers. As testing numbers have dropped 

TREATMENT MAKES HIV 
UNDETECTABLE AND UNINFECTIOUS

MY MUM IS       
LIVING WITH HIV

I’M NOT BECAUSE SHE
CAN’T PASS IT ON

MY BOYFRIEND IS 
LIVING WITH HIV

I’M NOT BECAUSE HE
CAN’T PASS IT ON

TREATMENT MAKES HIV 
UNDETECTABLE AND UNINFECTIOUS

Sperm Positive is the world’s first HIV-positive sperm bank

https://www.spermpositive.com/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2atqBllCAe0


39Annual Report  |  2019 - 2020

with COVID, we are working to introduce dried blood 
spot testing for self-collection. We are also working with 
Telehealth to provide ongoing health care where possible.

We have also started a service for people whose rapid HIV 
test	is	negative	but	would	benefit	from	PrEP.	Peers	who	
conduct the rapid test are now able to initiate treatment 
with a PrEP starter pack of ten pills. A lab form is provided 
for additional testing and a virtual follow-up consultation 
takes place with a doctor for the complete PreP script.

With Sexual Health pushing PrEP clients away and people 
not comfortable engaging with their GP around their sexual 
health, this program has the potential to reach many people 
at risk.

the year ahead
There has been some traction in the travel ban area with 
UNAIDS and Human Rights providing support to have HIV 
removed as a named condition that denies PLHIV visas 
greater than 12 months. This work is, however, on hold 
while our borders are closed.

2020/2021 will likely be a tough year as funding 
opportunities become scarce due to the economic fallout. 
Some funders have already pulled back while other 
opportunities have appeared through COVID stimulus 
packages.

A glamorous fan of U=U

A positive space at Pride



eStRelA+

Knowledge about HIV and awareness of the rights of PLHIV 
in Timor-Leste remains low among PLHIV, their families 
and communities, as well as the general public. As a result, 
as documented by Estrela+, PLHIV continue to experience 
high levels of stigma and discrimination both in community 
and health care settings. Other challenges include low 
levels	of	ART	adherence	and	difficulties	faced	by	PLHIV	in	
accessing care and support services.

Estrela + has asked NAPWHA to assist by conducting 
workshops and providing support to develop a checklist of 
services, that can be used by PLHIV who are supporting 

others. NAPWHA and Estrela+ currently have an application 
for funding support to carry out this work. Building on 
established relationships, the project aims to create a series 
of regionally focused events to assess major barriers to 
addressing self-stigma in the region. If the current proposal 
being considered by ViiV International is not successful, 
other options will have to be pursued.

Special thanks to Suzy Solomon and Beau Newham for their 
work with NAPWHA in continuing to seek funding supports 
for Estrela+.

Mana Ines Lopez, Executive Director of Estrela+ (far right) represents the interests of Timor-Leste, at the NAPWHA session, “Heads 

together: we can transform the region” at the ASHM Conference in 2019.
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IGAt Hope

The PNG health system faces numerous challenges. These 
include a lack of trained health-care workers, poor health 
infrastructure and low HIV health literacy rates within the 
population. Other barriers for the delivery of successful 
antiretroviral therapy (ART) programs include interruptions 
to supply, regular ART stockouts and high rates of loss to 
follow up.

High rates of tuberculosis and malaria are amongst the 
multiple health problems faced by the country. It is 
estimated that out of a population of 8.5 million people up 
to 63,000 may be HIV positive - the highest prevalence rate 
of	any	country	in	the	Asia	Pacific.

Igat Hope now employs 48 peer counsellors and educators 
who are located in seven provinces throughout the country. 
Building the capacity of peer workers is an important 
strategy in providing ART adherence support but there has 
been minimal co-ordinated investment in understanding the 
training needs of peer workers. NAPWHA is supported by 
the CHPNG program to assist in training the peer workers.

COVID-19 means that support offered will now go online 
using WhatsApp, Facebook and by reviving the Igat Hope 
website as a source of information for HIV positive people 
in PNG.

The network of PLHIV in Papua New Guinea



poSItIVe WoMen VICtoRIA

In the face of the curve ball thrown by COVID, the staff, 
Board and members of Positive Women Victoria (PWV) have 
collectively demonstrated what is possible when you stay 
focused in adversity.

In such times, it might be easy to become overwhelmed 
with the sense of crisis, yet despite the extended period of 
lockdown in Victoria seeing us work remotely since March, 
Positive Women Victoria has been able to adapt quickly to 
the new working environment. This has been quite a juggle. 
Yet, the shared effort and support from our members has 
enabled us to make some genuine gains and enabled us to 
focus on future strategy.

Please note the following achievements:

•	 An increase in peer support contacts of over 38%, 
transitioning from a face-to-face centred model to the 
uptake of new options for client contact.

•	 Continued new referrals to our service, with women 
from 14 different countries of origin, highlighting the 
diversity of women with HIV in Australia.

•	 Continued engagement in advocacy, in areas including 
sex work law reform, breast feeding, aged care, HPV-
related cancers, HIV cure, research, HIV services and 
the Victorian HIV Strategy.

•	 Engagement in the NAPWHA operational leadership 
group.

•	 Establishing peer support volunteer training for women 
from African communities.

•	 Overall, an 11% increase in our membership from 2018-
19.

Thanks to a brand-new website launched in 2019, Positive 
Women Victoria has greatly improved and strengthened 
our capacity to communicate with members. We now have 
a regular and upgraded program involving electronic direct 
member communiques, Facebook, and a revamped news 
magazine.

A new Strategic Plan for 2020 and Beyond is now in place. 
One of its enduring commitments is to challenge the 
stigma that affects so many women living with HIV. With 
a grant from Gilead Sciences, Positive Women Victoria is 
spearheading that work under the leadership of journalist 
and author, Heather Ellis, a former PWV Chair. Ativities 
include a new podcast and story-sharing initiative, the 
development of an HIV and Women Media Guide, and 
activities intended to capitalise on the liberating impact 
of U=U and its profound challenge to HIV-associated 
stigma. These activities have been warmly embraced by our 
members.

Positive Women Victoria is emerging from extended 
lockdown stronger, focused and knowing we can deliver 
services well under adverse conditions. Our Board has 
undertaken exciting new planning activities, and a searching 
examination of our peer support program and services to 
keep it strong and viable.

Our community partners at Living Positive Victoria and 
Thorne Harbour Health support us in joint advocacy 
and policy initiatives, partnership events, and through a 
generous contribution to our peer support program. The 
Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society is 
partnering with us on important research to understand the 
experiences of women living with HIV in clinical research.

Our major funders, the Victorian Department of Health 
and Human Services, despite the huge challenge of the 
pandemic, has not faltered in its funding and moral support 
for Victorians with HIV, for which we remain deeply 
appreciative. We salute their mighty effort for Victoria’s 
health and wellbeing this year.
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poZHet

Pozhet is a NSW state-wide service that works with 
heterosexuals living with and at risk of HIV. As well, 
we work with services to ensure they have a good 
understanding of issues relevant to heterosexuals living 
with HIV.

Like everyone, the second half of the year brought us many 
challenges with the COVID-19 pandemic changing the 
way services worked with the community. Pozhet ensured 
information about COVID-19, Telehealth and changes to 
Medicare were shared with all our clients. A FAQ page was 
distributed and developed into a webpage on the Pozhet 
website.

Client retreat
Before the COVID-19 pandemic, the year commenced as 
planned. One of the key events of 2019, was the annual 
client retreat held in partnership with the HIV and Related 
Programs Unit in South Eastern Sydney Local Health 
District. This retreat was held in October at Berry, NSW for 
23 PLHIV and their partners. Nine of the 23 participants 
were completely new to Pozhet and 11 were from culturally 
and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds.

The retreat was a mix of organised activities, information 
sharing, social engagement, and peer support. As always, the 
majority of attendees agreed that connecting with peers was 
one of the most valuable parts of the weekend.

One	of	the	first-time	attendees	stated:	“I	just	wanted	to	tell	
you that I am so honoured to have been a part of the Berry 
retreat this weekend. I walked in not knowing anyone and 
walked out making lifelong friends. Thank you for making 
me feel super welcome and comfortable. I drove back home 
in tears not wanting to leave but also because I felt for the 
first	time	I	found	people	who	never	judged	me,	defined	me	
by an illness and people I could be so comfortable with and I 
didn’t need to be scared to talk about my HIV to. “

Many expressed this sense of community. This was in 
sharp contrast to them living with HIV as a secret, as many 
participants avoid talking about their HIV status in their 
everyday lives. In the debrief session other new people were 
very	emotional	and	spoke	of	finding	support	they	didn’t	

know existed. One couple spoke of sitting in the car when 
they arrived with one of them begging to return to Sydney. 
They didn’t and were very glad that they stayed.

+Connect
In 2019, Pozhet partnered with Positive Life NSW for a 
+Connect at Erskineville and a larger day time +Connect 
held at Liverpool. Over 90 PLHIV, family members and 
partners from both services attended a very successful day.

promotional tools
At the end of 2019, Pozhet developed and launched a suite 
of promotional tools, including a service brochure, a 
revitalised website and two factsheets. The factsheets 
were about having children and relationships and are to 
be followed by more on topics such as ageing and mental 
health.

Pozhet also published two e-newsletters for services and 
two client newsletters which can be viewed as a hardcopy 
or on-line. Both newsletters included stories from PLHIV 
which included one about coping during the COVID-19 
lockdown.

In partnership with NSW Women Partners of Bisexual Men 
Project, Pozhet published a video “Could it be HIV” which 
consists of women telling their own stories. It is relevant for 
both women and services.

Virtual support
Due to the COVID pandemic, regular client events have 
not continued through 2020. We are currently looking at 
ways to ensure Pozhet clients have a variety of options for 
virtual peer support. The Pozhet Connect Facebook Group 
continues, and we also promote relevant peer activities 
hosted by Positive Life NSW to Pozhet clients.

https://pozhet.org.au/pozhet-print-resources/
http://www.pozhet.org.au/
https://pozhet.org.au/pozhet-print-resources/
https://pozhet.org.au/newsletters/
https://pozhet.org.au/living-with-hiv/womens-videos


FInAnCIAl RepoRt

tReASuReR - Chris Howard 

For the year ending 30 June 2020, NAPWHA’s total 
income was $1,077,155 ($936,241 in 2019) with total 
expenses of $1,013,307 ($914.794 in 2019) resulting in a 
cash surplus of $63,848 ($79,977 in 2019). The operating 
result	is	significantly	better	than	budget	forecast	for	the	
year. NAPWHA’s total assets at the end of the year were 
$1,658,457 and total liabilities were $611,217 resulting in a 
net asset position of $1,047,240 ($983,392 2019).

The Finance and Risk Committee, with the support of the 
Board, responded early in 2020 to the unfolding COVID-19 
pandemic. Good planning ameliorated the negative impacts 
of	COVID-19	on	NAPWHA’s	financial	position	and	ensured	
continuity of NAPWHA operations and contractual 
obligations.

NAPWHA’s	financial	position	remains	strong	with	increased	
income and an improved equity position. The improved 
income position is due to Commonwealth COVID-19 grants, 
national peaks funding from the Commonwealth and pharma 
contracts.

Looking towards the future, the Board will continue close 
oversight of the budget and will ensure NAPWHA is 
financially	fit	for	the	future.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to acknowledge and 
thank NAPWHA’s Executive Director, Aaron Cogle for sound 
management of the organisation’s income and expenses to 
support the delivery of a good result for 2020.

Chris Howard

Treasurer



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The names of Board members throughout the year and at the date of this report are:

Scott Harlum – President (commenced 25th October 2019)
Sarah Feagan – Vice President
Chris Howard  – Secretary/Treasurer (commenced 25th October 2019)
Cipri Martinez (ceased on 25th October 2019)
Robert Mitchell 
Danny Ryding (commenced 25th October 2019)
Diane Lloyd
Michael Brown (commenced 6th May 2020 )
Precious Mapfumo ( ceased 25th October 2019) 
Simon O’Connor 

Aaron Cogle – Executive Director 

Your Board members submit the financial report of  National Association of People With HIV Australia 
(NAPWHA) Incorporated, for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

Board Members

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 1

Aaron Cogle – Executive Director 
Katy Roy - Staff Representative (ceased 20/07/2019)
Charlie Tredway - Staff Representative (commenced 20/07/2019 )

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Association during the financial year were:

5. Formulation of policies for member organisations on matters concerning HIV/AIDS at a national and
international level;

6. Representation of member organisations on all matters concerning HIV/AIDS at a national and
international level; and

7. Collection and dissemination of information and resources for distribution to member organisations.

1. Advancing the human rights and dignity of people with HIV/AIDS, including their right to participate in
the Australian Community without discrimination and their right to comprehensive and appropriate
treatment, care support and education;

2. Advocacy on national issues concerning people with HIV/AIDS;

3. Provision of assistance to people affected by HIV/AIDS, including the provision of material, emotional
and social support;

4. Encouragement, assistance, monitoring and promotion of medical and scientific research into the
causes, prevention and cure of HIV/AIDS;

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 1



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Significant Changes

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.

Operating Result

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the members of the Board.

Scott Harlum

President

The surplus from ordinary activities after providing for income tax amounted to $63,848 (2019 Surplus: 
79,977).

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 2

Chris Howard

Treasurer

Dated this 22nd day of October 2020

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 2



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019
Note $ $

Revenue 2 1,072,414   934,455   

Interest revenue 4,741   1,786   

1,077,155   936,241   

Expenses

Admistration expenses (334,575)   (370,270)   
Depreciation and amortisation expenses (10,419)   (8,939)   
Project & Program expenses (476,274)   (316,719)   
Property expenses (30,689)   (26,863)   
Conference and meeting expenses (75,719)   (99,188)   
Website &  IT (42,233)   (33,610)   
Other operating expenses (43,398)   (59,205)   

Surplus before income tax expense 63,848   21,447   

Income tax expense 1 -   -   

Surplus after income tax expense for the year 

attributable to the members 63,848   21,447   

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Gains on revaluation of buildings -   58,530   

Total comprehensive income for the year 

attributable to the members 63,848   79,977   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 3



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

Note 2020 2019
$ $

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 5 638,947   341,405   
Trade and other receivables 6 80,026   35,386   
Other current assets 7 11,301   11,641   

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 730,274   388,432   

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 8 928,183   934,740   

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 928,183   934,740   

TOTAL ASSETS 1,658,457   1,323,172   

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 9 74,545   53,547   
Financial Liabilities 10 27,607   52,261   
Provisions 11 97,965   77,816   
Other liabilities 12 - 155,758 
Contract liabilities 13 408,988   - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 609,105   339,382   

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 11 2,112   398   

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,112   398   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 611,217   339,780   

NET ASSETS 1,047,240   983,392   

EQUITY
Retained Earnings 971,679   907,831   
Assets Revaluation Reserve 75,561   75,561   

TOTAL EQUITY 1,047,240   983,392   

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 4



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

$ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2018 -                   827,854           827,854                 

Surplus after income tax expense for the year -                   21,447             21,447                   

Gains on revaluation of buildings 134,091            -                  134,091                 

Prior years adjustment (58,530)            58,530             -                        

Balance at 30 June 2019 75,561              907,831           983,392                 

Surplus after income tax expense for the year -                   63,848             63,848                   

Balance at 30 June 2020 75,561              971,679           1,047,240              

   

RETAINED 

EARNINGS
TOTAL

ASSETS  

REVALUATION 

RESERVE  

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 5



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
Note 2020 2019

$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash Receipts from operating activities 1,325,644         1,025,897         

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,002,545)        (1,027,859)        

Interest received 4,741                1,786                

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 327,840            (176)                  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,862)               (12,244)             

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,862)               (12,244)             

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of borrowings (26,436)             (135,647)           

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (26,436)             (135,647)           

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD 297,542           (148,067)          

341,405            489,472            

5 638,947            341,405            

CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

CASH AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 6



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

Basis of preparation

Revenue recognition

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Association is expected to be 

entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the 

Association: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; 

determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of 

money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-

alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each 

performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services 

promised.

In the officers' opinion, the Association is not a reporting entity because there are no users dependent on general 

purpose financial statements.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The Association has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 

adopted.

Impact of adoption

AASB 15, AASB 16 and AASB 1058 were adopted using the modified retrospective approach and as such 

comparatives have not been restated. There was no impact on opening retained profits as at 1 July 2019.

These are special purpose financial statements that have been prepared for the purposes of complying with the 

Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT), 

and associated regulations. The officers have determined that the accounting policies adopted are appropriate to 

meet the needs of the members of the Association.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement requirements 

specified by the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 

Board ('AASB') and the disclosure requirements of AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial Statements', AASB 107 

'Statement of Cash Flows', AASB 108 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors', AASB 

1048 'Interpretation of Standards' and AASB 1054 'Australian Additional Disclosures', as appropriate for not-for-

profit oriented entities.

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as 

discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent 

events. Such estimates are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' method. The 

measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be 

recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 

recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the variable 

consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject to the constraining principle are 

recognised as a refund liability.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Association's accounting policies. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 

the financial statements, are disclosed below.

The Association recognises revenue as follows:

7



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Property, Plant and Equipment

CLASS OF FIXED ASSET

Plant and Equipment 0- 7 years

Donations

Donations are recognised at the time the pledge is made.

Grants

Grant revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the Association satisfies the performance obligations stated 

within the funding agreements.

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before the Association is eligible to retain the 

contribution, the grant will be recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until those conditions are 

satisfied.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 

calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using 

the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Sales revenue

Events, fundraising and raffles are recognised when received or receivable.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

Freehold land and buildings are carried at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be exchanged 

between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction), based on periodic, but at least triennial, 

valuations by external independent valuers, less accumulated depreciation for buildings.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to a revaluation reserve in 

equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are recognised against revaluation reserve 

directly in equity; all other decreases are recognised in profit or loss.

As a Public Benevolent Institution for the purposes of Subdivision 30-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, the 

Association is exempt from income tax.

Volunteer services

The Association has elected not to recognise volunteer services as either revenue or other form of contribution 

received. As such, any related consumption or capitalisation of such resources received is also not recognised.

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost 

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit 

to the Association. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or 

loss.

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the Association to ensure it is not in 

excess of the recoverable amount from those assets.  The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 

expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal.  The expected 

net cash flows have not been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Income Tax

8



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Impairment of Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Contract assets

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Employee Benefits

Contract assets are recognised when the Association has transferred goods or services to the customer but where 

the Association is yet to establish an unconditional right to consideration. Contract assets are treated as financial 

assets for impairment purposes.

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Other long-term employee benefits

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 

are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 

employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future 

wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are 

discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and 

currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to 

be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 

liabilities are settled.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of the 

financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 

discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use 

is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to 

the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are 

grouped together to form a cash-generating unit.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of the 

financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 

discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

9



 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Impairment of Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Contract assets

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Employee Benefits

Contract assets are recognised when the Association has transferred goods or services to the customer but where 

the Association is yet to establish an unconditional right to consideration. Contract assets are treated as financial 

assets for impairment purposes.

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Other long-term employee benefits

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 

are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 

employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future 

wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are 

discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and 

currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to 

be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 

liabilities are settled.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of the 

financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 

discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use 

is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to 

the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are 

grouped together to form a cash-generating unit.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of the 

financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 

discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1- STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Comparative Figures

Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in

presentation for the current financial year.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 

not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset 

or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 

recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement 

of financial position.

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and 

estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its 

judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including 

expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting 

accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below.

Employee benefits provision

As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the 

reporting date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in 

respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition 

rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 

mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Association for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2020. 

The Association has not yet assessed the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and 

Interpretations.

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or 

may have, on the Association based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products 

and services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the Association operates. 

Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon 

the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the 

Association unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 

pandemic.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The Association determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 

property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result 

of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the 

useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been 

abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 2- REVENUE 2020 2019

$ $

Revenue from contracts with customers

  Pharmaceutical & Sponsorships 122,980   153,612   

  Projects income 179,625   158,543   

302,605   312,155   

 Other revenue

  Grant Income 705,958   602,270   

 Donations 775   500   

  Other Income 63,076   19,530   

769,809   622,300   
Total Revenue 1,072,414   934,455   

NOTE 3- EXPENSES

Surplus before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Donation 1,208   1,075   

Interest paid 1,782   5,969   

NOTE 4- REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided,

the auditor of the Association:

Auditing the Financial Report 

Portman Newton 6,800                   6,300   

6,800   6,300   

NOTE 5- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank 417,569 41,099 
Term deposit 220,878 300,000 
Cash on hand 500 306 

638,947 341,405 

NOTE 6- TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivable 52,040 29,371 
Other debtors 18,500 - 
Accured income 6,481 4,960 
BAS receivable 3,005 1,055 

80,026 35,386 

NOTE 7- OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments 10,646 10,986 
Key deposits 655 655 

11,301 11,641 
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 8 -PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2020 2019
$ $

Buildings - independent valuation 2019 909,091 909,091              

Plant & Equipment - at cost 158,164 154,302              

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (139,072)              (128,653)             

19,092                 25,649                

Total property, plant & equipment 928,183               934,740              

NOTE 9 -TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Unsecured Liabilities

Trade creditors 47,682                 18,847                

Accrued charges 12,564                 9,443                  

PAYG withholding 6,482                   8,451                  

Superannuation payable 2,438                   11,745                

Other payables 5,379                   5,061                  

74,545                 53,547                

NOTE 10 -FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Current

Secured Liabilities

Bank loan 27,607                 52,261                

Non-Current

Secured Liabilities

Bank loan -                           -                          

Total Bank Loan 
27,607                 52,261                

NOTE 11 -PROVISIONS

Current

Provision for Annual Leave 52,183 37,872                

Provision for Long Service Leave 45,782 39,944                

97,965                 77,816                

Non-Current

Provision for Long Service Leave 2,112 398                     

The buildings held by the Association were valued by independent valuer Meadow Real Estate Pty Ltd, 

Mr Adrian Staltari associate member of Australian Property Institute member number 69020 dated 10 

September 2019. The fair value of the buildings was determined to be $909,091. 
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 12 -OTHER LIABILITIES 2020 2019

$ $

Current  

Income in advance -                       155,758              

-                           155,758              
NOTE 13 -CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Current  

Contract liabilities 408,988 -                      

408,988               -                          

NOTE 14 -COMMITMENTS

A. 

Payable – minimum lease payments:

not later than 12 months                     1,980                    1,980 

between 12 months and five years                     2,310                    4,125 

later than five years -                       -                      
4,290                                      6,105 

B.

Payable

not later than 12 months 27,607                 52,261                

between 12 months and five years -                       -                      

later than five years -                       -                      
27,607                 52,261                

NOTE 15 -EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Operating Lease Commitments

The Association has elected to use the exception to lease accounting for short-term leases and leases 

of low value assets, and the lease expense relating to these leases are recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss on a straight line basis.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 

affect the Association's operations, the results of those operations, or the Association's state of affairs in future 

financial years.

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially positive for the 

Association up to 30 June 2020, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the 

reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian 

Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions 

and any economic stimulus that may be provided.

Mortgage Repayments expenditure contracted 

Operating lease expenditure contracted for at balance date that is not cancellable and is not provided for 

in the accounts:
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 NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) 

INCORPORATED 

ABN 79 052 437 899

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Scott Harlum Chris Howard

President Treasurer

Dated this 22nd day of October 2020

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board and is signed for and on behalf of the Board 
by:

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of National Association of People With HIV Australia (NAPWHA) 
Incorporated, the directors have determined that the Association is not a reporting entity and that this special 
purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements.

The financial statements and notes complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent 
described in Note 1 and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the registered entity as at 
30 June 2020 and of its performance for the year ended on that date.

There are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of its debts, as and
when they become due and payable.

1.

3.

2. This declaration is signed in accordance with subs 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Regulation 2013.
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Portman Newton

In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not for Profits
Commission Act 2012, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020 there have been:

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE MEMBERS OF

1.  No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not
for Profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

2. no contravention of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

15

   

Wei Chong CA

Signed this 22nd day of October 2020, in Sydney.
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Level 14, 309 Kent Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Ph: 02 9994 8991
www.portmannewton.com

Opinion: ABN 51 131 458 118

Basis for Opinion

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF

ABN 79 052 437 899

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PEOPLE WITH 

HIV AUSTRALIA (NAPWHA) INCORPORATED

We have audited the financial report of National Association of People With
HIV Australia (NAPWHA) Incorporated,which comprises the statement of financial 

position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information, and and the statement by members of the Board. 

In our opinion, except the comparative of previous year financial report which was not audited by us, the accompanying 
financial report presents fairly, in all material respects gives a true and fair view of the Associations Incorporation Act 
1991 (ACT), the financial position of the association as at 30 June 2020 and its financial performance for the year then 
ended in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the financial statements and the requirements 
of the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT) and Div 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Regulation 2013.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 

Report on the Financial Report

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 16

Responsibilities of The Members of the Board for the Financial Report 

are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the association in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the financial 
reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT), and Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and 
fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the association’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board either intends to liquidate the association or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has 
been prepared to assist the association to meet the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT) and 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for 
another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 16



• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
association’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Board.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the association’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 17

Sydney
Date : 22-Oct-20Reg. Auditor no: 383585 

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the association to cease to continue as a going 
concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Wei Chong CA

Portman Newton

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 17
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RepReSentAtIVeS & 
SeCReteRIAt

nApWHA BoARD
President Scott Harlum

Vice President Sarah Feagan

Secretary/Treasurer Chris Howard

Directors Michael Brown, Aaron Cogle (ex-officio), Diane 
Lloyd, Robert Mitchell, Danny Ryding, Simon O’Connor

Staff Representative Charlie Tredway

nAtIonAl netWoRK oF 
WoMen lIVInG WItH HIV 
(FeMFAtAleS)
Chair Katherine Leane

poSItIVe ABoRIGInAl AnD 
toRReS StRAIt ISlAnDeR 
netWoRK (pAtSIn)
Chair Michelle Tobin

tReAtAWARe outReACH 
netWoRK (ton)
Chair Dr John Rule

opeRAtIonAl leADeRSHIp 
GRoup
National Association of People With HIV Australia 
(NAPWHA), Living Positive Victoria (LPV), Positive Life New 
South Wales (PLNSW), Positive Life South Australia (PLSA), 
Queensland Positive People (QPP)

Also, representation from Positive Organisation Western 
Australia (POWA), ACT PLHIV, Positive Women Victoria 
(PWV).

poSItIVe WoRKFoRCe 
polICY oFFICeRS
Adrian Ogier, Dr John Rule

CoMMunICAtIon oFFICeR 
WoRKInG GRoup
Charlie Tredway 

MeDIA StRAteGY 
ReFeRenCe GRoup
Heather Ellis, Scott Harlum, David Menadue, Adrian Ogier, 
Steve Spencer, Charlie Tredway

nApWHA SeCRetARIAt
Executive Director Aaron Cogle

Deputy Director Adrian Ogier

Senior Research Manager Dr John Rule

Communications & Community Engagement 
Officer Saysana Sirimanotham

Social Media & Community Engagement Project 
Officer Charlie Tredway

Learning Project Officer Daniel Reeders 

Administration Officer/Reception Gladys Jimenez 

Finance Officer Kevin Barwick

HIV HEALTH LITERACY 
FRAMEWORK PROJECT 

Anth McCarthy, Emma Sheldon-Collins 

Research & Training Consultant Ronald Woods

Project Coordinator Saysana Sirimanotham

Community Advocates Rita Broughton

Sarah Feagan, Lara Kruizinga, Precious Mapfumo,

More info: napwha.org.au/health-literacy-framework



nApWHA RepReSentAtIVeS

ACH2 SCIentIFIC ADVISoRY CoMMIttee

Dr John Rule

AFAo (AuStRAlIAn FeDeRAtIon oF AIDS 
oRGAnISAtIonS) BoARD

David Menadue

Apn+

Sarah Feagan

ASHM ConFeRenCe ADVISoRY GRoup

Robert Mitchell

ASHM HIV GuIDelIneS SuBCoMMIttee

Bill Whittaker

AuStRAlIAn MoleCulAR epIDeMIoloGY netWoRK

Aaron Cogle, Dr John Rule

BlooD BoRne VIRuS AnD SeXuAllY tRAnSMISSIBle 
InFeCtIonS SuRVeIllAnCe SuBCoMMIttee (BBVSS)

Aaron Cogle

CentRe FoR SoCIAl ReSeARCH In HeAltH 
SCIentIFIC ADVISoRY CoMMIttee

Aaron Cogle, Chris Howard

CentRe FoR SoCIAl ReSeARCH In HeAltH StIGMA 
InDICAtoR SteeRInG CoMMIttee

Aaron Cogle, Dr John Rule

ContRol AnD elIMInAtIon WItHIn AuStRAlIA oF 
HepAtItIS C FRoM plHIV (CeASe)

Dianne Lloyd, Dr John Rule

HIV CuRe CoMMunItY pARtneRSHIp GRoup

Cipriano Martinez

IMMunoVIRoloGY ReSeARCH netWoRK

Dr John Rule

InteRnAtIonAl netWoRK FoR StRAteGIC 
InItIAtIVeS In GloBAl HIV tRAIlS (InSIGHt) 
CoMMunutY ADVISRoY GRoup

Dr John Rule

KIRBY AuStRAlIAn HIV oBSeRVAtIonAl DAtABASe 
(AHoD) SteeRInG CoMMIttee

Aaron Cogle, Scott Harlum

KIRBY AuStRAlIAn CollABoRAtIon FoR 
CooRDInAteD enHAnCeD SentInel SuRVeIllAnCe 
(ACCeSS)

Aaron Cogle, Scott Harlum

KIRBY pReDICtoRS oF ADHeRenCe to ARt (pAARt) 
StuDY

Dr John Rule

MInISteRIAl ADVISoRY CoMMIttee on BlooD 
BoRne VIRuS AnD SeXuAllY tRAnSMISSIBle 
InFeCtIonS (currently not sitting)

Robert Mitchell

VIIV pHARMACeutICAlS ADVISoRY BoARD

Aaron Cogle + various

WoRlD AIDS DAY – CoMMonWeAltH 
CooRDInAtIon CoMMIttee

Charlie Tredway

nAtIonAl BlooD BoRne VIRuS AnD SeXuAllY 
tRAnSMISSIBle InFeCtIonS SuRVeIllAnCe 
SuBCoMMIttee (BBVSS)

Aaron Cogle

AuStRAlIAn SeXuAllY tRAnSMISSIBle InFeCtIonS 
MAnAGeMent GuIDelIneS FoR uSe In pRIMARY 
CARe MAJoR ReVIeW ReFeRenCe CoMMIttee

Daniel Reeders

AFAo InDIGenouS WoRKeRS ADVISoRY GRoup

Arone Meeks

AnAl CAnCeR WoRKInG GRoup

Adrian Ogier

HpV WoRKInG GRoup

Adrian Ogier
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